
 

Bermondsey Community Council 
Planning 

 
Thursday 16 February 2012 

7.00 pm 
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

 
Membership 
 

 

Councillor Linda Manchester (Chair) 
Councillor Graham Neale (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Michael Bukola 
Councillor Denise Capstick 
Councillor Mark Gettleson 
Councillor Paul Kyriacou 
Councillor Eliza Mann 
Councillor Nick Stanton 
 

 

 
 
Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
Annie Shepperd 
Chief Executive 
Date: Tuesday 7 February 2012 

 
 

 

Order of Business 
 

 
Item 
No. 

Title  

 

1. INTRODUCTION AND WELCOME  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES  
 

 

3. ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 

 The chair to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent 
business being admitted to the agenda. 
 
 

 

Open Agenda



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title  
 
 

4. DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 

 Members are asked to declare any interest or dispensation and the nature 
of that interest or dispensation which they may have in any of the items 
under consideration at this meeting. 
 

 

5. MINUTES (Pages 4 - 7) 
 

 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 23 
January 2012. 
 

 

6. REPORT ON TRANSFER OF £1,137,500 FROM THE AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING FUND TO FINANCE A SCHEME AT 120-150 IVYDALE 
ROAD. (Pages 8 - 13) 

 

 

 

   

  

 
Date:  Tuesday 7 February 2012 
 



  
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
CONTACT: Tim Murtagh, Constitutional Officer, Tel: 020 7525 7187 or 
email: tim.murtagh@southwark.gov.uk 
Website: www.southwark.gov.uk 

 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

On request, agendas and reports will be supplied to members of the 
public, except if they contain confidential or exempted information. 

 

ACCESSIBLE MEETINGS  

The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  For 
further details on building access, translation and interpreting services, 
the provision of signers and other access requirements, please contact 
the Constitutional Officer. 

Disabled members of the public, who wish to attend community council 
meetings and require transport assistance in order to attend, are 
requested to contact the Constitutional Officer. The Constitutional 
Officer will try to arrange transport to and from the meeting. There will 
be no charge to the person requiring transport. Please note that it is 
necessary to contact us as far in advance as possible, and at least 
three working days before the meeting.  

 

BABYSITTING/CARERS’ ALLOWANCES 

If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look 
after your children or an elderly or disabled dependant, so that you can 
attend this meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.  
Please collect a claim form from the Constitutional Officer at the 
meeting.  

 
DEPUTATIONS 
Deputations provide the opportunity for a group of people who are 
resident or working in the borough to make a formal representation of 
their views at the meeting. Deputations have to be regarding an issue 
within the direct responsibility of the Council. For further information on 
deputations, please contact the Constitutional Officer.  
 
 

For a large print copy of this pack, 
please telephone 020 7525 7187.  
 
 

 

Agenda Annex
1



Bermondsey Community Council

Language Needs
If you would like information on the Community Councils translated into your
language please telephone 020 7525 7420 or visit the officers at 160 Tooley
Street, London SE1 2TZ

Spanish:

Necesidades de Idioma
Si usted desea información sobre los Municipios de la Comunidad traducida a
su idioma por favor llame al 020 7525 7420 o visite a los oficiales de 160 Tooley
Street, Londres SE1 2TZ

Arabic:

020 7525 7420Tooley Street 160
LondonSE1 2TZ

Somali:

U-Baahnaanshaha Luqadda
Haddii aad u baahan tahay macluumaadka ku saabsan Guddiyada Beelaha oo
lagu tarjumay luqaddaada fadlan soo wac khadka taleefoonka 020 7525 7420
ama booqasho ugu tag hawlwadeennada ku sugan 160 Tooley Street, London
SE1 2TZ

French:

Besoins de Langue
Si vous désirez obtenir des renseignements sur les Community Councils traduits
dans votre langue, veuillez appeler le 020 7525 7420 ou allez voir nos agents à
160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2TZ

Bengali:

fvlvi cÖ‡qvRb

Avcwb hw` wb‡Ri fvlvq KwgDwbwU KvDwÝj m¤ú‡K© Z_¨ †c‡Z Pvb Zvn‡j 020 7525 7420 b¤̂‡i
†dvb Ki“b A_ev 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2TZ wVKvbvq wM‡q Awdmvi‡`i mv‡_ †`Lv

Ki“b|

2



Yoruba:

Awon Kosemani Fun Ede

ojúlé 160 Tooley Street , London SE1 2TZ

Krio:

Na oose language you want
If you lek for sabi all tin but Community Council na you yone language, do yar
telephone 020 7525 7420 or you kin go talk to dee officer dem na 160 Tooley
Treet, London SE1 2TZ

Twi:

Kasaa ohohia,
se wopese wo hu nsem fa Community Councils ho a, sesa saakasa yie ko wo
kuro kasa mu. wo be tumi afre saa ahoma torofo yie 020 7525 7420 anase ko sra
inpanyinfo wo 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2TZ

3



1 
 
 

Bermondsey Community Council - Monday 23 January 2012 
 

 
 
 
 

BERMONDSEY COMMUNITY COUNCIL 
- Planning – 

 
MINUTES of the Bermondsey Community Council held on Monday 23 January 2012 
at 7.00 pm at Ground Floor Meeting Room G02B - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 
2QH  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Linda Manchester (Chair) 

Councillor Graham Neale (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Denise Capstick 
Councillor Mark Gettleson 
Councillor Paul Kyriacou 
Councillor Eliza Mann 
Councillor Nick Stanton 
 

  
OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

  
Amy Lester, Planning Officer 
Nagla Stevens, Principal Lawyer 
Graham Sutton, Economic Development Manager 
Jillian Houghton, Project Officer 
Tim Murtagh, Constitutional Officer 
 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION AND WELCOME 
 

 

 The chair welcomed members of the public, councillors and officers to the community 
council meeting. 
 

2. APOLOGIES 
 

 

 Apologies for lateness were received on behalf of Councillor Eliza Mann. 
 

3. ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT 
 

 

 There were none. 

Agenda Item 5
4



2 
 
 

Bermondsey Community Council - Monday 23 January 2012 
 

 

4. DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 6.1 88 BERMONDSEY STREET, LONDON, SE1 3UB 
 
Councillor Mark Gettleson, personal and non-prejudicial in relation to item number 11-AP-
1845 as he is a resident within the Bermondsey Street Conservation Area. 
 
6.2 48-50 WESTON STREET, LONDON, SE1 3QJ  
 
Councillor Mark Gettleson, personal and non-prejudicial in relation to item number 11-AP-
3567 as he is a resident within the Bermondsey Street Conservation Area. 
 

5. MINUTES 
 

 

 RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 2011 be agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the chair. 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2011 be agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the chair, subject to the following change: 
 
 Item 6.1’s resolution should state Abbey Street instead of Albany  
            Street. 

 

6. DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT ITEMS 
 

 

6.1 88 BERMONDSEY STREET, LONDON, SE1 3UB  
 

 PROPOSAL 
 
Change of use of first and second floor of building from B1 (Office) non-residential 
language school (Use Class D1). Works include a roof level extension and outdoor roof 
top amenity area with balustrade. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
 That application 11-AP-1845 be deferred as the drawings in the report had  
            discrepancies and would require amendment. 
 

6.2 48-50 WESTON STREET LONDON SE1 3QJ  
 

 PROPOSAL 
 
Retention of use as Class A2 (estate agent) on ground floor level. 
 

5



3 
 
 

Bermondsey Community Council - Monday 23 January 2012 
 

The planning officer presented the application and councillors asked questions of the 
planning officer. 
 
There was a statement from an objector and councillors asked questions 
 
The applicant’s agent made a statement and councillors asked questions. 
 
There were no statements from local supporters of the application living within 100 metres 
of the site, or from ward councillors. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
 That application number 11-AP-3567 be approved subject to the conditions  
            set out in the report and the following amendment and new condition: 
 

1. That the reference to Sunday hours should be deleted. 
 

2.   That a condition be added, that the premises should not be a betting shop  
      on the grounds of 3.2 Protection of Amenity and impact on the character  
      of the conservation area. 

 
Members asked that if appropriate separate advertising consent should be put before this 
committee. 
 
Councillor Eliza Mann joined the committee. 
 

7. TO RELEASE SECTION 106 MONIES TO DELIVER THE SHARD 
SOUTHWARK VOCATIONAL PROGRAMME 

 

 

 Members noted the report and recommended to Planning Committee: 
 

1. That the £315,000 for workplace co-ordinators – Building London Creating Futures 
be released along with £100,000 for nursery and childcare facilities. 

 
2. That a Grange Ward Councillor should be added to the project board. 

 
3. That it is premature to release the £600,000 for training and employment without 

more information on which retailers and what courses would be available. 
 

4. That youth groups from the Bermondsey Community Council area would benefit 
and that the available opportunities be communicated throughout the community 
council area. 

 

8. SECTION 106 PROVISIONAL ALLOCATION 
 

 

 The project officer presented the report.  
 
Members supported the proposed release of section 106 funding by Planning Committee. 
 

6



4 
 
 

Bermondsey Community Council - Monday 23 January 2012 
 

 The meeting ended at 8.40pm 
 
 
 CHAIR:  
 
 
 DATED:  
 

7



 1 
  

Item No.  
6. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date:   
16 February 2012 

Meeting Name: 
Bermondsey Community Council 
 

Report title: 
 

Report on transfer of £1,137,500 from the Affordable 
Housing Fund to finance a scheme at 120-150 
Ivydale Road. 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

 
Riverside and Grange Wards 

From: 
 

Housing Regeneration Initiatives Manager  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. That the Community Council comments upon the following proposal to be 

considered at the Planning Committee meeting of the 31 January 2012: 
 

• The Planning Committee will receive a recommendation that £1,137,500  
        from the Affordable Housing Fund partially finances a scheme at 120-150  
        Ivydale Road  

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
2. Approval in respect of funds allocated for affordable housing over £100,000 is a 

matter reserved for decision by Planning Committee.  Planning obligations are 
used to address the negative impacts caused by a development and contribute 
to providing infrastructure and facilities necessary to achieve sustainable 
communities. The council can enter into a legal agreement with a developer 
whereby the developer agrees to provide planning obligations. These 
contributions can cover a range of facilities including the provision of affordable 
homes. 

 
3. The council expects affordable housing to be provided by developers on-site. In 

exceptional circumstances where a developer has justified, to the council’s 
satisfaction, that the affordable housing cannot be built on-site, the affordable 
housing is secured by way of an in-lieu payment. All in-lieu payments received 
by the council in this way are put together to form the Affordable Housing Fund. 
This fund is ring-fenced to help finance social housing providers build mostly or 
100% affordable housing schemes in the borough. The council’s Housing 
Regeneration Initiative team manages this fund and identifies appropriate 
schemes to finance in the borough in accordance with the following criteria as 
determined by the Investment Programme Group. Schemes must meet housing 
need as defined by the housing strategy; Meet the Homes and Communities 
Agency’s Design and Quality and Joseph Rowntree Lifetime Homes standards; 
The RSL is able to  submit a planning application within four months; Meet 
planning requirements of 10% wheelchair provision. The units funded from the 
Affordable Housing Fund would form part of larger schemes that would meet a 
Housing Strategy objective of increasing the supply of larger homes. This 
scheme was selected under the current mechanism i.e. it would have been 
financed by the HCA had resources permitted. A new procedure for selecting 
schemes AHF funded schemes will be proposed in the future. This will involve 
registered providers bidding for funds to develop schemes drawn from the 

Agenda Item 6
8



 2 
  

housing development database. Any scheme would have to meet the criteria set 
out above.  . 

 
4. The social rented units would be designed and built in accordance with the 

Homes and Communities Design and Quality standards and Joseph Rowntree 
Lifetime Homes standards. 

    
5. The financing of developments built by social housing providers with funds 

derived from developers as part of financial obligations contained within legal 
agreements is not regarded as public subsidy funding. These contributions are 
treated as private sector contributions. The proposed development set out below 
would replace a previously proposed scheme at 122-148 Ivydale Road for which 
the Planning Committee approved the release of AHF funds in February 2010. 
That proposal did not receive planning consent. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
6. This scheme received planning consent in December 2011 and would comprise: 
 

5x4 bed, 7 person houses for private sale  
2x3 bed, 5 person houses for shared Ownership  
5x3 bed, 5 person houses (including a wheelchair unit) for social rent 
2x1 bed, 2 person flats for social rent 
 

7. The affordable housing represents 42% of the residential provision. The 7 social 
rented units would be part funded by the £1,137,500 from the Affordable 
Housing Fund. These units will be made available at social rents and comprise 
two 1 bed flats, four 3 bed houses and one 3 bed wheelchair house. The 
provision of 5 social rented three bed dwellings is particularly valuable in 
meeting housing need. Social rents are set by the Homes and Communities 
Agency and determined by the level of local wages, the value of the home and 
the number of bedrooms. These rents will amount to approximately 35% of 
market value and are made possible on this site by the grant funding from the 
council’s affordable housing fund. If the rented units were grant funded by the 
Homes and Communities Agency rents would be set at the new “Affordable 
Rent” rent levels of up to 80% of market rents.  Members are advised that the 
implementation of the scheme is subject to land disposal by the council.  

 
8. The council’s housing committee made a decision in 1998 that any tenants of 

prefabs in Ivydale Road who wished to move would be rehoused in any scheme 
on this site if it would free up another site for development. Thus it is envisaged 
that a local prefab tenant will be considered for rehousing in one of he social 
rented dwellings.  

 
9. The funds currently sought will not be put towards the cost of seeking planning 

consent. If Members do not approve of the release of funds they will be retained 
in the Affordable Housing Fund until such time as approval is sought for the 
funding of future schemes.  A development agreement will be entered into 
between the council and Family Mosaic Housing Association and address all the 
requirements set out in paragraphs 11 and 12 below. The agreement will specify 
the stages of the scheme’s development, subject to audit, at which the council 
funding will be made available. Members are advised that a council project 
officer will arrange regular liaison meetings with the Association and ensure 
compliance with the terms of the agreement.  

 

9



 3 
  

10. If Members do not approve of the release of funds they will be retained in the 
Affordable Housing Fund until such time as approval is sought for the funding of 
future schemes.  

 
11.  A development agreement will be entered into between the council and Family 

Mosaic Housing Association. This agreement will address the quality of the 
scheme including specification of standards, a building timetable, the phasing of 
payments and monitoring of development. The association will also be required 
to meet the standards and criteria set out in the following documents: 

  
• The Homes and Communities Agency’s Design and Quality standards  
• Lifetime Homes and Secure by Design standards 
• Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 
• Joseph Rowntree Lifetime Homes standards 

 
12. The Association will also be required to demonstrate how the quality standards 

set out above have been incorporated into the procurement and design process. 
The agreement will specify the stages of the scheme’s development, subject to 
audit, at which the council funding will be made available. Members are advised 
that a council project officer will arrange regular liaison meetings with the 
Association and ensure compliance with the terms of the agreement. 

 
13. Given the council’s part funding of the social rented units it will have 100% 

nomination rights to all initial lets and thereafter 75% of 2 beds and 50% of 1 
beds.   

 
14 Developing this site will provide a land receipt for the council. The funding 

towards the 7 rented units (including a three bed wheelchair unit) represents a 
grant rate of £39,224 per person housed which is comparable to typical grant 
rates for HCA grant funded schemes with affordable units made available at 
target rents. The unit sizes in terms of floor area exceed council requirements. 
The provision of 5 social rented three bed units in such a small development is 
made possible by the grant funding. 

 
Policy Implications 
 
14. The LPA seeks to secure, as part of private developments, at least 35% of all 

new housing as affordable within the Urban and Suburban Density Zones on 
schemes of 15 units or more or on sites larger than 0.5 hectares. 

 
15. Paragraph 3.10 of the Affordable Housing SPD provides that all in-lieu payments 

received by the council are pooled together to form an Affordable Housing Fund. 
This fund is ring-fenced to help fund the provision of affordable housing by social 
housing providers in the borough.  

 
Community Impact Statement 
 
16. The scheme contains dwellings for which there is a particular need: five 3 bed 

houses to be let at social rents including one wheelchair unit. Thus development 
would increase the supply of suitable accommodation for borough residents  

  
17. The provision of this housing is in line with community needs and will create 

stronger communities. This in turn will improve the quality of life of people in 
Southwark and encourage community cohesion. 

10



 4 
  

 
Resource implications 
 
18. The proposed expenditure of £1,137,500 from the Affordable Housing Fund will 

be financed from developer’s contributions as follows: 
 
 
Scheme  Amount (£) 
London Bridge Tower     750,000 
151 Tower Bridge Road    387,500 
Total  1,137,500 
 
  
19. These amounts have been paid into the Affordable Housing Fund. There are no 

geographical or other conditions regarding the expenditure of the monies.  
 
Consultation 
 
20.  The proposed scheme at 120 -150 Ivydale Road has been subject to the normal 

planning consultation process. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Strategic Director for Communities, Law & Governance 
(NS20120103) 
21. This report is brought to Members in accordance with Part 3F, paragraph 2 of 

the Constitution under the heading ‘matters reserved for decision’ which requires 
that Members consider planning matters concerning the proposed expenditure 
of funds over £100,000 from receipts secured by section 106 agreements.  

 
22. The report recommends that the Planning Committee authorises the proposed 

expenditure of funds totaling £1,137,500 from the Affordable Housing Fund in 
respect of a number of legal planning agreements listed in paragraph 18 of the 
report, for the purposes of delivering a scheme at 120-150 Ivydale Road. 
The S106s monies must be expended in accordance with: 
(a) the terms of the specific S106s; and 
 
(b) the relevant policy tests set out in Circular 2005/05 and the first three 

being legal tests below which are now enshrined in Regulation 122(a) of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations  in that they must be: -  

 
(i) relevant to planning purposes; 
(ii) necessary to make the developments on the respective sites 

acceptable in planning terms by mitigating adverse impacts; 
(iii) directly related to the respective developments; 
(iv) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the respective 

developments; and 
(v) reasonable in all other respects. 
 

23. In the case of Affordable Housing contributions, these are pooled contributions 
and can be expended borough wide. There is no restriction on expenditure 
within the vicinity of the development site. The release of funds complies with 
the obligations as set out in the legal agreements. 
 

11



 5 
  

S106 Finance Officer  
 
24.  The S106 agreements and sums received for commuted payments for borough 

wide Affordable Housing purposes are as follows: 
 
1. S106 Agreement for London Bridge Tower (The Shard) reference 01-AP-

0476 account 190 has received £750,000 being 50% of the Affordable 
Housing commuted sum payable to date. 

 
2. S106 Agreement for 151 Tower Bridge Road reference 030-AP-2184 – 

account 314 has received £400,000 as the full Affordable Housing commuted 
sum payable. 

 
3. Both of the contributions are intended for Borough Wide provision of 

Affordable Housing and the amount of £1,137,500 may therefore be applied 
for the purposes of the above project. The S106 contributions in accordance 
with established practice have been transferred to the Affordable Housing 
Fund account and this report is to note the proposed use of these funds 
which are under the control of the Housing Department. 

 
Investment Implications  
 
25.  The proposed use of Affordable Housing Fund resources for this development by 
         a Registered Provider was approved by the Investment Programme  
         Group on 22 September 2011, subject to the necessary consent by Planning  

Committee. The council’s funding towards the scheme will be fully funded from 
planning gain contributions. The use of Affordable Housing Fund contributions 
therefore has no wider implications for the housing investment programme.  

 
 
Finance Director (Financial Implications) 
 
26. Approval by Planning Committee to release £1,137,500 from the Affordable 

Housing fund as detailed in this report, would provide financial assistance 
supporting delivery of seven social rented units located on Ivydale Road, the total 
development comprising fourteen mixed-tenure units. 

 
27. The scheme must gain planning consent and none of the funds discussed in this 

report will be used to defray the cost of obtained this consent. In the event that 
the release of the sum is not approved by the Committee, it will be retained in the 
Affordable Housing Fund pending future approval for use.  

 
28. Subject to consent being given the council will enter into a Development 

Agreement with Family Mosaic Housing Association. This will govern the 
requirements for the scheme, set out applicable standards and timelines and 
ensure that S106 funds are released and used in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of any planning permission.  

 
29. The contributions for this sum have already been paid into the fund by  

Developers with the originating schemes identified in this report. No 
geographical or other conditions restrict the use of the contributions in this case. 

 
   

12



 6 
  

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
Report to Investment Programme 
Group : 
Allocation of Affordable Housing  Fund 
Grant to  120-150 Ivydale Road 
 
Affordable Housing Fund Spreadsheet 
 

Housing Regeneration 
Initiatives 
160 Tooley Street 
London SE1  
 
As above  

Richard Burgess 
7525 1209 
 
 
 
As above  

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendices None 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Lead Officer Maurice Soden , Housing Regeneration Initiatives Manager  
Report Author Richard Burgess, Project Officer 
Version Final 
Date 5 January 2012 
Key Decision No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 
Strategic Director for Communities, 
Law and Governance  

Yes Yes 

Finance Director Yes Yes 
List other officers here   
Cabinet Member  No No 
Date final report sent to Community Council  11 January 2012 
 

13



  
 

 
 
BERMONDSEY COMMUNITY COUNCIL     MUNICIPAL YEAR 2011/12 
DISTRIBUTION LIST              
 
Amendments to Tim Murtagh (Tel: 020 7525 7187) 
 

OPEN COPIES OPEN COPIES 
 
To all Members of the Community Council:  
 
Councillor Linda Manchester (Chair)                        1 
Councillor Graham Neale (Vice-Chair)                     1 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai                                    1  
Councillor Michael Bukola                                         1  
Councillor Denise Capstick                                       1 
Councillor Mark Gettleson                                         1 
Councillor Paul Kyriacou                                          1  
Councillor Eliza Mann                                              1 
Councillor Nick Stanton                                            1 
 
 
MEMBERS OF PARLIAMENT 
Simon Hughes MP 1 
 
 
COUNCIL OFFICERS 
Community Council Officer 20 
(160 Tooley Street, 2nd Floor, Hub 4) 
 
Legal Officer – Nicky Bradbury                                1 
 
LIBRARIES 
Local Studies Library 1 
 
PRESS 
Southwark News  1 
South London Press 1 
 
 

 
EXTERNAL 
 
Shahida Nasim                                                              1 
LBS Audit Manager 
Ground Floor, 160 Tooley St 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AREA/ NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSING OFFICES 
Bermondsey Area Housing Office                     1          
Leathermarket NHO               1  
 
 
TOTAL DISTRIBUTION:                                            37 
 
 
 
 

 


	Agenda
	[Comment...]
	Language Needs

	5 Minutes
	6 Report on transfer of £1,137,500 from the Affordable Housing Fund to finance a scheme at 120-150 Ivydale Road.
	[Comment...]

